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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

MAIRE B. BRODERICK, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

SUMMIT LAKE LODGE,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  199318278
        AWCB Decision No.  01-0062

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on April  5, 2001


We heard the employee's claim for medical benefits at Anchorage, Alaska on February 21, 2001.  The employee appeared, representing herself.  Attorney Allan Tesche represents the employer.  We kept the record open for submission of a deposition;  we closed the record on March 22, 2001 when we first met after the deposition was filed.  


ISSUE

Whether the employee's current medical needs are related to her 1993 work-related injury, and are reasonable and necessary.  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

We incorporate by reference the facts as detailed in our prior decisions:  Broderick v. Summit Lake Lodge, AWCB Decision Nos.  99-0107 (May 11, 1999) (Broderick I);  and 00-0112 (June 12, 2000) (Broderick II).  Broderick I involved a discovery matter;  Broderick II dealt with the area of specialty for the second independent medical evaluation (SIME) physician. The employee claims injuries to her lower extremities from a slip an fall while working for the employer as a waitress on August 22, 1993.  


This claim involves a lengthy and litigious history. (A summary of her medical history follows.)  We have scheduled 13 prehearing conferences;  ten have been held.  We have held five Board hearings; three have produced decisions and orders (D&O's) (including this one).  On June 2, 1998, a compromise and release agreement (C&R) was filed by the parties wherein the employee waived all benefits, including reemployment benefits and certain medical benefits, effective one year after the approval of the C&R for $4,190.18.  The C&R provided that the employee could only treat with Lavern Davidhizar, D.O., or his referrals, for one year after the C&R was approved.  At the June 24, 1998 Board hearing, and in subsequent correspondence from the employee, we found the employee rescinded the June 2, 1998 C&R.  (See, June 26, 1998 Board Letter).  


In response to our letter, Dr. Davidhizar responded:


1.
Maire's current diagnosis is lumbar sprain with possible herniated lumbar disc.  


2.
Maire's treatment would include myofacial release, E Stim, manipulation of the spine, hear, exercise, and strength training.  I anticipate that she will require treatment three times a week for several months, then decreasing treatment over one year.  There is no guarantee that she will reach her pre-injury state, but this program of treatment is the most likely to attain that goal.  


3.
It is reasonable to expect this treatment will return Maire to her pre-injury state; however, there is no guarantee.


4.
Maire's back will always bee more susceptible to injury and problems, and may require further treatment.


5.
I believe the settlement is in Maire's best interest, if her problem can be resolved within the year.  If not, she needs to continue with treatment until she can function with a home exercise program.  


The parties continued, unsuccessfully, in their settlement negotiations.  A second hearing on the merits was scheduled for June 24, 1999.  At that hearing the parties advised the Board that they had again settled the issues set for hearing, and requested we cancel the hearing.  The panel and counsel for the employer questioned the employee at length regarding her understanding of the terms and effect of the new C&R.  Specifically, the employee was advised that her medical benefits remained open, as well as the employer's right to contest the reasonableness or necessity of future treatment.  At page 6, the 1999 C&R provides in pertinent part: 


All future medical care would remain open according to the terms and conditions of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act and applicable frequency standards, as long as it pertains to the employee's injury sustained while working at Summit Lake Lodge on 08/22/93.  Future medications and transportation costs to and from Dr. Davidhizar, the designated attending physician recognized by the carrier, and any diagnostic, medication, transportation and/or medical referrals made by Dr. Davidhizar will remain open subject to the Act and administrative regulations.  

The executed C&R was filed on June 25, 1999.  In exchange for $5,362.95, the employee agreed to waive all benefits, except medical benefits as outlined above.  After review, and considering the employee's testimony at the June 24, 1999 hearing, the Board approved the C&R and issued it on June 30, 1999.  


Prior to the June 1999 C&R, the parties agreed to the need for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) under AS 23.30.095(k).  Subsequent to the approval of the 1999 C&R, the SIME issue was resurrected.  In Broderick II, the issue was which area of medical specialty should perform the SIME.  The employee requested we choose a neurosurgeon, the employer requested we choose either a neurosurgeon or an orthopedic surgeon.  At page 5 we concluded:  


We select Douglas G. Smith, M.D., as the SIME physician for this evaluation.  Dr. Smith specializes in orthopedics, “the medical specialty concerned with the preservation, restoration, and development of form and function of the musculoskeletal system, extremities, spine, and associated structures by medical, surgical, and physical methods.” (Stedman’s Medical Dictionary, 26th Edition, 1995, 1262).  We base our selection on several factors.  First, the employee’s injury appears to be orthopedic in nature.  Second, the employee’s attending physician is a D.O., or doctor of osteopathy, which studies the diseases of bone.  (Id. at 1270).  Third, Dr. Smith enjoys a long history with the Board as an independent evaluator, providing thorough, impartial opinions.  Fourth, the employee's neurosurgical concerns listed in her June 9, 2000 letter are not from a doctor, but the employee.  


In the event Dr. Smith feels that in addition to his evaluation, a neurosurgical evaluation is indicated, we will, order an additional evaluation by David Spindle, M.D.  We find that we may consider the economical impact of an SIME on employers and insurers.  The average cost of Dr. Smith’s SIME’s is under $1,500.00.  We note that in a recent SIME Dr. Spindle charged $6,063.00, much of which encompassed records review.  Should Dr. Smith feel that a neurosurgical evaluation is indicated, Dr. Spindle shall be instructed to rely on Dr. Smith’s summary and record review, and not duplicate his work.


Dr. Smith examined the employee on July 6, 2000.  In his July 27, 2000 SIME report he summarized the employee's relevant medical history in his "Appendix -- Information from the Medical Records."  We found this summary accurately and succinctly summarized the employee's medical history and incorporate it herein as follows:

03/29/90 Injury apparently related to crab processing, exact mechanism unknown. 

04/04/90 MRI by an unknown radiologist was reported to show degenerative disc disease at L5‑S I with a bulge but no herniation or free fragment. This was reported by Dr. Hodson in her clinic note of 4/8/90. 

09/06/90 Electrodiagnostic studies done by Dr. Small. EMG and nerve conduction studies of the back and lower extremities were normal.

10/10/90 Dr. Small does somatosensory evoked potential exam. He finds L4‑5 and S I normal.

10/23/90 CT of the lumbar area interpreted by radiologist Gold. He notes mild central bulging of the disc at the L4‑5 and L5‑S1, mild degenerative facet changes bilaterally at L4‑5 and U‑S 1.

10/21/91 Dr. Fu does electorodiagnostic testing. EMG of the right lower extremity and paraspinals is found to be normal. 11/13/91 MRI of the lumbar area interpreted by radiologist Ladyman. He identified small herniations at L4‑5 and L5‑S I with degenerative disc disease.

11/13/91 CT of the lumbar area by Dr. Schriver. He noted central bulging of the disc at L4‑5.

11/20/91 Dr. Godersky, neurosurgeon, notes chronic pain problem, unresponsive to treatments.

04/29/92 Bone scan by Dr. Wolf notes no changes to make the diagnosis of reflex sympathetic dystrophy. 

05/15/92 Pelvis and thigh MRI interpreted by Dr. Bruschwein as being negative. 05/27/92 Dr. Shaw in Billings, Montana, does a rating of a 7 percent whole person impairment on the basis of "sciatic sensory".

10/01/92 A.R.E. Clinic in Phoenix, begins treatment.

10/12/92 Dr. McGarey. He notes the treatment has been Electro‑Acuscope, massage, biofeedback, electromagnetic, counseling, and group therapy. Also, the Temple Beautiful Program has included nutrition, dream study, meditation, music, and exercise. On October 9th, Broderick reported to him that she had 10 percent physical improvement and 90 percent mental improvement.

11/06/92 Dr. McGarey notes six weeks of the program and the patient has indicated 50 percent improvement compared to arrival. She is able to sit several minutes in the chair, she sleeps three consecutive hours, and now she can be touched. His exam reveals that the area produced pain but less than originally. He felt she should continue acupuncture. 

08/22/93 The fall at Summit Lake for the most recent documented injury. 

08/26/93 Fairbanks Memorial Hospital. Right low back pain radiating down the back of the right leg. X‑ray was said to show ebumation of the L5‑SI endplates.

09/07/93 CT of the lumbar area interpreted by radiologist Zuckerman as being normal CT of the lumbar.

09/13/93 MRI of the lumbar area interpreted by radiologist Fuzzard as showing minimal central disc bulges at L4‑5.

09/30/93 CT of the lumbar area by Dr. Hattan. He notes mild spondylosis, L4‑5, and L5‑S1. The disease slightly more apparent at L5‑SI. No evidence of disc herniation.

12/27/93 myleogram interpreted by radiologist Coyle in Anchorage. He finds normal lumbar myleogram. CT at the same time was said to show hypertrophy and sclerosis and spurring of the facets.

12/93 to 4/94 It is reported there was video surveillance which showed Broderick working at "Pilot's Grill" without problems.

05/16/94 Paul Craig, Ph.D., psychologist, notes a diagnosis of psychological factors affecting physical condition. 

06/12/94 NM of the lumbar area interpreted by radiologist Ladyman. He notes degenerative disc disease at L4‑5 and L5‑S I with small central bulge, 5‑ 1.

06/20/94 MRI addendum notes fatty replacement at L5 vertebral body.

07/13/94 Diskogram by Dr. McCormick. He reports discometrics are positive at both L4‑5 and L5‑S 1. 

07/14/94 Dr. Craig does a videotape review apparently of the surveillance and indicates that Broderick is working and from a psychological point of view, can work. 

08/01/94 Dr. Pervier feels that Broderick is stable as of 12/93. He felt she was working quite well in April 1994 and felt there was no medical treatment necessary. 

08/29/95 Dr. Fu felt there was no additional impairment as a result of the 1993 injury compared to the 1990 injury. 

09/15/97 Dr. Davidhizar in his clinic notes indicates Broderick told him she was injured in 1993. He feels that it sounds like there was never a thorough treatment and evaluation of her problem. 

08/16/99 Lumbar spine MM interpreted by radiologist Cable as showing disc degeneration, primarily at L4 and L5, with facet joint disease and ligamentum flavum hypertrophy. He notes that facet joint disease is most severe at L5 where it combines with a protruding disc to cause significant foraminal stenosis, right greater than left.


As mentioned above, the present issue is the employer's liability, if any, for continuing medical treatment, including the possibility of future surgery.  The employee testified she would like to have surgery performed on her back.  


Dr. Davidhizar, the employee's attending physician, testified that he is not a surgical doctor, but a "family practice" doctor.  He would refer surgical opinions to surgical specialists.  (Dr. Davidhizar dep. at 22).  In August, 1999 Dr. Davidhizar referred the employee to John T. Duddy, M.D., a surgical specialist.  In his August 31, 1999 report, Dr. Duddy noted the following regarding the employee's physical examination:  "Some of the reaction to pain is nonanatomic.  She has an exaggerated pain response.  She has questionable bilateral tension signs.  She has no weakness.  She is able to walk on both her heels and toes."  Dr. Duddy diagnosed:


MRI shows the patient does have significant disease with foraminal stenosis and facet arthropathy.  I can not be sure that this is related to her previous injury six years ago.  We would need to have access to all scans and all medical records prior to making this determination.  Additionally, she has not worked for six years.  This is a very poor prognostic indication for her ability to return to work.  Some of her pain is nonanatomic.  


Plan:  Given the above conflicting evidence, I would like to have her evaluation by Dr. Tang in pain management.  She should be evaluated for any conservative treatment at this point.  If Dr. Tang does not feel that he can help her, we will consider laminotomy with fusion and instrumentation.  I suspect the long-term results of this would be poor and the likelihood of her returning to work at this point, our literature says, is close to zero.  


An MRI of the employee's spine was taken on August 16, 1999 finding:  "Disc degeneration, predominately at L4 and L5.  This is associated with facet joint disease and some ligamentum flavum hypertrophy.  The facet joint disease is most severe at L5, where it combines with the protruding disc to cause significant neural foraminal stenosis, right greater than left."  Edward Tang, M.D., performed a lumbar epidural steroid injection on September 1, 1999.  Dr. Tang noted:  "interestingly the patient noted that she still had a fair amount of pain in her right buttock as well as in her leg even though the leg was numb."   In his September 28, 1999 report, Dr. Duddy noted a re-examination of the employee.  


Dr. Davidhizar's October 13, 1999 chart note provides in pertinent part:  


She saw Dr. Duffy (sic) who also thought she needed surgery but apparently the insurance carrier is reluctant to do this, or at least has not been willing to consider it to this point, but the patient continues to have problems and her MRI show that she indeed has a surgical problem. . . . The patient was encouraged to follow up with Dr. Duffy (sic)and we will write a report to the insurance company and see if we can move this along, this has been long enough.  


In his October 13, 1999 letter to the employer's adjuster, Dr. Davidhizar wrote:  


Ms. Broderick has had trouble with her back since her injury six years ago.  She is continuing to have pain into her leg, in spite of conservative therapy she has persisted in having chronic problems.  A recent MRI shows that she has marked foraminal stenosis, secondary to a protruding disc at L5.  This is more significant on the right than on the left and the patient's pain has always been on the right.  


The patient has been seen by an Orthopedic Surgeon in Anchorage, Dr. Duddy.  He felt her MRI findings were also very significant but tried an epidural injection first by Dr. Tang. This was unsuccessful.  According to the patient, he has now recommended that she have surgery.  There is concern about the insurance covering this since apparently that has been a difficult problem in the past.  


The patient needs this surgery.  I highly recommend it be done as soon as possible to relieve her from her pain since she has endured it for six years already.  


In his September 30, 1999 letter to the employer's adjuster, Dr. Duddy wrote:


I had an opportunity to review Ms. Broderick's previous records as was requested.  Via a letter by Dr. Fu dated September 25, 1995, an MRI without contrast was done in June 1994.  This showed the same degenerative disc disease that had been previously found at L4-5 and L5-S1.  Currently, the MRI does show significant changes with disc degeneration at L4-5, facet disease and some ligament hypertrophy.  Facet joint disease is most severe with foraminal stenosis, right worse than left.  This is consistent with her symptoms.  All evidence suggests that this was attributed to her injury in 1993


I feel that her current complaints are the result of the natural progression of spinal stenosis and foraminal stenosis.  


In a February 1, 2000 letter to "Workman's Compensation Board,"  Dr. Davidhizar wrote in pertinent part:


The patient has had no new injuries since 1993.  She does have some degenerative disk disease.


I am sure that her present problem with her L5-S1 disc space and marked narrowing of her spinal canal is due to her 1993 injury.  There is no other logical explanation.  She had some problems in 1993, but since then they have gradually become more severe and her pain has also become more severe and persistent in her right leg.  She also has some difficulty occasionally now in her left leg with posterior pain, but the predominant pain is in her right leg.  


I have recommended that the patient consider back stabilization which would require about 15 treatments and then reevaluate her.  Most people in 15 treatments are doing well and almost pain free.  We would then provide home strengthening and she may need retraining as well depending on her job capabilities.


In his March 30, 2000 letter to the employer, Dr. Davidhizar wrote:  


The studies cited above document the fact that she had difficulty from the time of her injury in 1993 to the present and her situation is slowly worsening.  This may be partially due to the natural progression of degenerative disc disease, but because of the fact that she was having no difficulty at the time of injury, I am sure the injury contributed greatly to her present condition.  


In his April 13, 2000 chart note, Dr. Davidhizar noted in pertinent part:  


She is also referred to the pain clinic for further evaluation and treatment since it may be some time before anyone seriously considers surgical intervention, which may be what she needs.  The only thing short of that would be to treat her with the back stabilization system, which in many cases prevents lumbar surgery.  


Between May 1, 2000, and June 26, 2000 Dr. Davidhizar and his clinic, Family Medical Clinic, provided approximately 50 physical therapy sessions for "lumbar stabilization" for the employee.  These charges have been paid by the employer.  (See, Dr. Davidhizar medical reports, May 1, through June 26, 2000).  


Dr. Davidhizar's deposition was taken on February 16, 2001.  He testified at 21 -22:  


Q.
Okay.  Dr. Smith also states, toward the bottom of that same page, that he thinks that surgery should be approached with extreme caution in a case such as this, with longstanding subjective complaints, but without specific localizing findings in order to indicate a potential focus for surgical intervention.  Would you agree or disagree with that comment?


A.
Well, that's generally accepted medical practice.  In this case, however, you know, the patient would like to get back to work.  When all else has failed, you know, sometimes you have to do some of those things.  


Q.
Is she a good surgical candidate in your opinion, Doctor


A.
Well, the fact that it's been so long makes her less -- You know, not quite as good as we'd like it to be, but, you know, obviously he's had worsening of her condition by her MRI report.  You know, if they can get that stenosis removed, her pain could possibly completely go away.  There's never any guarantees with surgery, unfortunately.


Q.
Would you perform surgery on her?


A.
No, I'm not a surgeon.


Q.
So you would in fact refer that question out to a specialist, would you not?


A.
True.  


Interpreting the proposed surgery recommended by Dr. Duddy in his August 31, 1999 report, Dr. Davidhizar explained:


He was talking about taking the disc out and fusing your back, was what the -- what he was recommending, or what he suggested would be the only other option, if we couldn't get you fixed with some other method.  But then he also admits -- indicated that he was a little worried about your outcome of the surgery.  (Id at 32).  


At the request of the employer, William S. T. Mayhall, M.D., examined the employee on December 17, 1999.  In his December 17, 1999 report, Dr. Mayhall diagnosed and commented:  


Diagnosis:

1.
Degenerative disc disease L4-5 and L5-S1.

2.
Protrusion L5-S1 disc as per 1999 MRI scan. 

3.
Preexisting disc degeneration (predating August 22, 1993 injury).

4.
Obesity.

5.
Inconsistencies on examination and history.  

1. Current diagnosis and prognosis.

Please see the current diagnosis. The prognosis is poor for return to work. Of interest is that the history is confusing and apparently inaccurate. Dr. Pervier's note indicated she was observed working after her injury. She indicates she has not worked. Her treating surgeon, Dr. Duddy, feels that her prognosis for return to work is poor. Her history seems to be somewhat disjointed and certainly has gaps in treatment present. It's noted that her MRI scan of 06/20/94 indicated only a bulging disc at L5‑Sl which would be consistent with preexisting disc degeneration. Now it appears she has some protrusion or even herniation. Progressive degenerative changes appear to have occurred. Thus, her prognosis is not good in regard to what her physicians predict, her accuracy of reporting, and the implications of such.

2. Are there objective findings to indicate surgery? If so, what type of surgery is recommended?

Objective findings are difficult to ascertain. Her straight leg raising may be positive, although she has inconsistent range of motion. She complains of radiating pain, but has complained of that without objective evidence of MRI disc herniation in the past. In order to objectify surgery, I believe an EMG would need to be done, and ideally it would need to show acute findings to be convincing for surgical disc excision. The inconsistencies make it very difficult to suggest surgery would be indicated.

Based on her history and her presentation, I would not suggest surgery on this lady at this time. Further study with EMG would be indicated.

3. Are the current symptoms and need for treatment as a result of the 1993 injury or is this due to an underlying degenerative disc disease and the natural progression of that disease?

Current symptoms and treatment, in my opinion, are related to disc degeneration. Please refer to the prior MRI studies which did not objectify disc herniation or a protrusion. Also, reports from Dr. Fu indicate that she had degenerative disc disease predating the 08/22/93 injury. The 08/22/93 injury may have had something to do with further damage to the disc, but the major contributing cause, in my opinion, is body habitus, age, underlying disc degeneration, and natural progression of that condition.

4. If not for the injury in August 1993, would Ms. Broderick be in need of additional treatment?

She did receive treatment after the 1993 injury. Thus, I can say the treatment afforded after the 1993 injury until apparent claim closure appears to be related to the 1993 injury.

5. Please provide treatment recommendations and estimated length of that treatment.

Treatment recommendations would be weight loss, strengthening, anti​-inflammatories, and conservative treatment of conditioning and strengthening. Also, one might do a differential spinal block in order to determine if this lady's pain is "central" or felt to be organic. If the differential spinal block indicated an organic problem, then I would be more optimistic about surgery. If the EMG were positive, I would be more optimistic about surgery. Also, I must suggest that a psychiatric evaluation would be beneficial in view of the inaccuracies and conflicting histories.

6. Has Ms. Broderick reached medical stability as a result of her industrial injury?

In regard to being "medically stable", I would recommend that the studies above be completed prior to suggesting whether or not she was stable. Certainly she seems to complain of similar complaints that she had before, but the MRI scan shows an apparent worsening. This worsening, in my opinion, would not be attributable to specifically the injury, but to degenerative changes.

In his February 15, 2001 deposition, Dr. Mayhill testified further regarding his December 17, 1999 report.  Dr. Mayhill testified that there is no objective evidence the employee's preexisting back condition was worsened during her August 22, 1993 injury.  (Dr. Mayhill dep. at 14).  At  14 - 15, Dr. Mayhill testified as follows:


Q.
I guess, to summarize, based on your examination of Ms. Broderick and your review of the studies both before and after her accident of August 22, 1993, does she suffer from any disc pathology at L5-S1 as a result of that accident for which she requires medical treatment?


A.
I can't objectify that, so I believe the answer is no.


Q.
And again with respect to that same accident, is there any other form of medical treatment, I guess other than surgery, is there any medical treatment that you would recommend as a result of that accident?


A.
No, there is not.  

. . . . 


Q.
Okay.  And her treating physician, who is a family practitioner, Dr. Davidhizar, has recommended again a referral to a neurosurgeon, and I understand it from previous correspondence, for surgery.  In your professional opinion is she a good surgical candidate?


A.
Based on the exam I did in 1999, I would not recommend surgery.  Unless something has changed in the examination, I would be very conservative and not recommend surgery.  


Q.
Have you seen anything in the medical reports generated since your examination of her and reports that you have seen that would indicate that perhaps she might be an appropriate candidate for surgery?


A.
I have not.  The things that I would think that would tip me towards surgery would be similar to what I described in my report;  that would be a positive EMG, which would indicate a nerve root lesion, or something on physical examination that would be an objectifiable muscle weakness or a sensory disturbance that could be correlated with one of these disc lesions.  In general, one doesn't recommend surgery unless they have objectifiable problem to correct.


So in the absence of repeating the exam, I couldn't say that I see that, but on the basis of the medical records, I also don't see that type of description at this time.  (Id. at 17 - 18).  

. . . . 


Q.
Do you relate the disc degeneration at all to her accident of August 22, 1993?


A.
 I do not.


Q.
And can you explain that?


A.
Well, after her accident -- well, first of all, she had disc degeneration before that. . . . It's documented in the records and the first MRI scan that she had shows she had disc desiccation, and that takes longer than two or three weeks to develop.  Her x-rays also showed degenerative changes, so we know she had prior disc problems.  Also, the records that I have seen that you mentioned have indicated that, as opposed to some of records that said she had a short-term course of treatment after 1990, her injury was actually quite prolonged, indicating an ongoing problem.  


So I believe she had preexisting disc degeneration, and I believe in the human being this continues on.  I see no objective evidence that this was worsened by her injury.  In fact, not only did she have an MRI scan, but shortly thereafter she had a CT myleogram, which some people consider the gold standard, in trying to determine if there it is a herniated disc.  That study was listed as normal as far as any kind of pressure on a disc.  


So her pain, although she relates it to the fall, has not been objectified on the basis of disc herniation.  (Id. at 19 - 20).

. . . .


Q.
[Dr. Smith] states as well that it seems to me that the current condition is a result of the natural progression of multi-level degenerative disc disease which has been evident in this lady since at least April of 1990.  Do you agree with that?


A.
I would agree.


Q.
Would that be consistent with your review of the medical records provided to you and the summary of those records contained in Dr. Smith's report?


A.
 Yes, it is.


Q.
And finally he states, same page, "I don’t feel that there is any additional treatment particularly needed relative to the industrial exposure of 8/22/93;  that if there was an aggravation of the underlying condition by that injury it would have been temporary and should have long since been resolved."  Do you agree with that conclusion?


A.
I do.  (Id. at 23 - 24).  


On cross-examination, Dr. Mayhill, acknowledged that an EMG or a differential spinal block may be suitable possible diagnostic tests.  (Id. at 37).  


A.
Right.  Those are my suggestions when I did the report to see if there was any objectifiable nerve root irritation on EMG. A differential spinal is where they give a partial spinal block and see if pain is relieved.  


It was interesting -- I think it was Dr. Tang or Sang -- did an epidural.  He indicated you got numbness in your leg, but not relief from the pain, which doesn't seem to fit very well.  So seeing those kinds of responses, that's why I suggested those as possible diagnostic tests.  


Q.
Well, would you still think that those kind of tests could be an idea for right now, then to rule everything out?


A.
An EMG would be okay to do, and differential spinal would help determine whether pain was central or peripheral.  Again at this point, sever years after the injury, an EMG might not date the finding particularly well, but if one were to do an EMG and find acute changes, they could tell whether these are acute or chronic, then that might help date any nerve root irritation as to whether it was something that occurred very recently or something that had been there a long time.  


Q.
So that would be a good suggestion to have done, then, at this point?


A.
Well, of course, it was within my report, and I would suggest, yeah, all my suggestions must be good;  right?  I'm teasing a little bit there.  


That's when I was putting together what kind of a diagnostic testing might be of value.  These were things that came to find are mind (sic).  (Id. at 37 - 38).

. . . .


A.
It's possible that [these tests] would, if one saw that showed an acute nerve root impingement, then they might be concerned about treating the person more aggressively.  If the differential spinal were done and there was still pain with the complete block, then one would not believe that any kind of aggressive treatment, such as surgery, wold be of benefit.  So there might be some predictive value at this.  (Id. at 50).

. . . . 


A.
The question was if there is any further treatment and that I could relate to the injury, and I said no, I couldn't specifically relate to the injury.  That doesn't necessarily mean that there wouldn't be further treatment on the basis of studies and things like that or degenerative spondylosis.  (Id. at 52).


As discussed above, Douglas Smith, M.D., performed an SIME at the Board's request.  Dr. Smith examined the employee on July 6, 2000.  In his July 27, report, Dr. Smith answered as follows these five questions:  

QUESTION #1: What is your diagnosis of Ms. Broderick's low back condition? What is the medical cause for her complaints or symptoms?

ANSWER: The diagnosis of her back condition is noted above. Basically, she has a chronic pain presentation involving her back and her leg which dates back to March of 1990.

A portion of the medical cause for her complaints or symptoms may be the multilevel degenerative disc disease which she has now and which has progressed since the 1990 timeframe.

It is my impression and it has been the impression of many people involved with her care and evaluation that there probably is a strong psychological component to her pain complaints in addition to whatever may be going on from a mechanical basis.

She has had removal of lipoma from the right sacral area in 1992 which probably does not have much to do with her current problem, although it indicates some effort to alleviate subjective pain complaints.

Finally, she has a history of a sprain/strain in 1990 and a sprain/strain/contusion in 1993. It does not seem likely that those in themselves are major contributors on a mechanical basis to her current medical problem.

QUESTION #2: Which complaints or symptoms are or are not related to the 8‑22‑93 injury (a slip and fall on a wet floor, landing mostly on her right buttock) and what is the basis for your opinion? On a more probable than not basis, is her L5‑S1 disc protrusion a result of the 8‑22‑93 injury?

ANSWER: It would be my opinion that the majority of her problems are related to the degenerative disc disease, if there is a mechanical component to her problem, and the psychological and socioeconomic factors that are involved in a chronic pain syndrome.

In my extensive review of the records and imaging studies I have not come across any evidence that there was any objective change in her condition as a result of the 8‑22‑93 injury.

It also seems that her subjective complaints at this time are similar to subjective complaints which have been voiced by her since March of 1990. This would lead me to believe that there is no particular mechanical component that is related to the 8‑22‑93 exposure and that the psychological situation also is not new relative to that exposure.

Relative to an L5‑S I disc protrusion, I am not sure that there is an L5‑S I disc protrusion. She has degenerative changes there with posterior osteophyte formation and some retrolisthesis at L5 relative to S 1. This does cause a small mass effect on the NMI, but I see no evidence of a disc protrusion on any of the studies that I have reviewed or the reports that I have reviewed with the exception of an 11/91 report from Dr. Ladyman where he felt there was a "small herniation at L4‑5 and L5‑SI". My review of that film did not indicate to me herniations or protrusions.

Finally, there are some mentions in the records that she had completely resolved her 1990 injury before beginning employment at the Summit Lake Lodge in 1993. My review of the records would indicate that at the time of her discharge from the holistic program at the AR.E. Clinic in Phoenix, Arizona in October of 1992, the director indicated that she had been receiving Electro‑Acuscope massage, biofeedback, electromagnetic treatment, counseling, group therapy, nutrition, dream studies, meditation, music, and exercise. After six weeks of the program, she had a 50 percent improvement to the point where she could sit several minutes in the chair and sleep three consecutive hours. She also reached a point where she could be touched, where that had not been possible previously. On examination, she had pain in the area of pain but less than originally. None of this would indicate to me that the improvement at the clinic in November of 1992 was complete relative to her 1990 injury. Certainly, the degenerative changes in the lumbar spine were not resolved by such a program and if she has mechanical pain at this point, in my opinion, it would be related to those degenerative changes and their progression.

QUESTION #3: Did the 8‑22‑93 injury aggravate, accelerate, or combine with a pre​existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment or the disability?

ANSWER: Possibly. There apparently was a documented injury in the form of a fall in August of 1993 at the Summit Lake Lodge. She was seen subsequently at Fairbanks Memorial Hospital with pain complaints of her back and leg.

Imaging studies demonstrated degenerative changes in the lumbar area with nothing acute or discreet. It is conceivable, however, that this pre‑existing, underlying degenerative disc disease at multilevels could have been aggravated by such a fall. This would have reasonably necessitated some medical treatment for a time period until that type of aggravation would be expected to resolve.

Therefore, I would say that it is possible that that injury aggravated the pre‑existing condition and caused the need for some medical treatment.

Subquestion a. If so, did the aggravation, acceleration or combining with the pre​existing condition produce a temporary or permanent change in the pre‑existing condition?

ANSWER: I find no objective evidence that there was any significant change in the pre​existent condition as a result of the 8‑22‑93 industrial exposure. I said it was possible that there was an aggravation. If there was such an aggravation, it would seem likely to me that that aggravation from a mechanical and physical point of view would have been temporary.

Subquestion b. If not, can you rule out the injury as a substantial factor in the aggravation, acceleration, or combining with the pre‑existing condition?

ANSWER: Not applicable.

Subquestion c. If not, do you have an alternate cause for the current condition?

ANSWER: It seems to me that the current condition is a result of the natural progression of multilevel degenerative disc disease which has been evident in this lady at least since April of 1990.

In addition, there appears to be a psychological component to her problem which also dates to the 1990 timeframe and is probably, in my opinion, present in the timeframe of this current year.

QUESTION #4: What specific additional treatment, if any is indicated/recommended? Do you recommend surgery, prescription medication, "back stabilization", "DRS", or the Shealy Pain Program as reasonable and necessary medical treatment for the work injury?

ANSWER: I do not feel that there is any additional treatment particularly needed relative to the industrial exposure of 8‑22‑93. 1 feel that if there was an aggravation of the underlying condition by that injury that it would have been temporary and should have long since resolved.

Relative to treatment of her ongoing problems, I am not sure that there is anything that would predictably improve her situation. Certainly, I think that surgery should be approached with extreme caution in a case such as this with longstanding subjective complaints, but without specific localizing findings in order to indicate a potential focus for surgical intervention.

I am not familiar with "DRS" or the Shealy Pain Program and will not comment further on those questions.

QUESTION #5: Do you believe that a neurosurgical evaluation is indicated in this case?

ANSWER: I see no indication for surgical intervention based on the information available to me.


I see no evidence of objective neurologic deficit that would be amenable to treatment by a neurosurgeon at this time.

The employee argues the employer should pre-authorize the fusion surgery recommended by Dr. Duddy.  She asserts she has been in virtually constant pain since her 1993 slip and fall.  In the alternative she asserts she should have the diagnostic testing as recommended by Dr. Mayhill, the employer's EME physician.  


The employer argues that the employee only suffered a temporary aggravation of a preexisting, degenerative back condition, and that the symptoms from her 1993 slip and fall would have long resolved.  They assert that any additional medical care the employee seeks or has is not related to her 1993 injury.  In addition, the employer argues that the surgery contemplated by the employee is not reasonable or necessary;  in fact, the employer asserts that the preponderance of the medical evidence indicates that surgery would be contra-indicated.  It argues that Dr. Duddy's opinion indicates the employee is not a good surgical candidate, and is corroborated by all of the surgical doctors.  The employer argues we should deny and dismiss the employee's claims for additional medical benefits.  


After the hearing, but prior to submission of Dr. Davidhizar's deposition, the employee submitted additional medical reports from 1990 - 1993.  The employer objected to our considering these reports.  The employee answered the employer's objection with additional medical records from 1990 - 1991.  The employer again objected.  We find the records should already be in the record, and conclude, therefore, that re-submitting the old records to be harmless.  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

"In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.”  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id., 316. The presumption can also attach with a work-related aggravation/ acceleration context without a specific event.  Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  


Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989);  Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 317.  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1)  the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).


The employer must then rebut the presumption by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991).  The Grainger court also explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1)  produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).


If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 


Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we find as follows:  We first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find, based on the testimony of the employee, and the reports of Dr. Davidhizar that the employee has attached the presumption that her claimed back condition is compensable.  


We next determine whether the presumption is rebutted.  We find, based on the opinion and testimony of Dr. Mayhill, combined with the report of Dr. Smith, without weighing credibility, that the employer has rebutted the presumption the employee suffers from a back condition which is disabling, as a result of the August 22, 1993 injury.  Specifically, in his deposition, Dr. Mayhill does not relate the employee's disc degeneration to the 1993 incident.  (See, Dr. Mayhill dep. at 19 - 20).  Dr. Smith opined:  "

In my extensive review of the records and imaging studies I have not come across any evidence that there was any objective change in her condition as a result of the 8‑22‑93 injury.


It also seems that her subjective complaints at this time are similar to subjective complaints which have been voiced by her since March of 1990.

Because the employer has rebutted the presumption, we review the record as whole to determine whether the employee has proved her claim, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the August 22, 1993 injury is a cause of her current disability and need for treatment, if any.  We find she has not. 


We find Dr. Davidhizar's opinions regarding causation of the employee's complaints are based on the employee's subjective complaints, not objective findings.  Based on his testimony, we find Dr. Davidhizar specifically deferred opinions regarding surgical necessity to surgeons.  We find Dr. Duddy's August 31, 1999 "recommendation" regarding surgery to be contingent and skeptical;  for example:  "I can not be sure that this is related to her previous injury;"  "I suspect the long-term results of [surgery] would be poor."  We do not interpret this report as a recommendation for future surgery;  to the contrary, we find Dr. Duddy predicted any improvement to be "close to zero."  


On the other hand, we find Dr. Mayhill's report and history to be very thorough, ruling out the employee's employment with the employer as the cause of her current complaints.  Dr. Mayhill placed significance in the objective findings, comparing her 1991 and 1994 film studies.  The employee's physical condition had not changed according to these studies.  Similarly, Dr. Smith concluded there is no objective evidence of any change in the employee's condition from the August 22, 1993 injury.  Dr. Smith opined that any aggravation of the employee's pre-existing condition would have been temporary.  We give greater weight to the thorough, detailed, comprehensive, opinions of Drs. Smith and Mayhill, which are based on objective findings.  


Based on a preponderance of the medical evidence, we conclude that the employee suffered a temporary aggravation of pre-existing condition on August 22, 1993.  We find this temporary aggravation would certainly have resolved within eight years.  We conclude the employer is no longer liable for the employee's continuing medical care.  


Even had we not found the employee suffered a temporary aggravation, we would still deny and dismiss her claim for surgical procedures.  We can not conclude that surgery is warranted based on the medical record.  As discussed above, we find Dr. Duddy's "recommendation" regarding surgery contingent on other factors which did not occur.  Furthermore, Dr. Duddy was skeptical and stated that the prognosis for improvement was close to zero.  Neither Dr. Duddy nor any physician has definitively stated that he or she would perform surgery on the employee.  To the contrary, Drs. Mayhill and Smith indicate that surgery is not recommended course for the employee to take.  We do not find the proposed surgery to be reasonable or necessary based on the entire medical record.  Accordingly, we conclude we must deny and dismiss the employee's request for surgery.  As we found above that the employer is no longer responsible for medical treatment, we find we need not address the employee's request for further diagnostic testing.  


ORDER

The employee suffered a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition on August 22, 1993 that has long since resolved.  The employer is no longer liable for medical treatment. 


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 5th day of April, 2001.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION


Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of MAIRE B. BRODERICK employee / applicant; v. SUMMIT LAKE LODGE, employer; ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INS CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 199318278; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 5th day of April, 2001.

                             

   _________________________________







   Shirley A. DeBose, Clerk
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